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Dear Ms Boothe,

Consultation on the proposed restructuring of the NGT gas metering business
Sohn Associates view the above document with interest due to our knowledge of the RGMA programme, price control issues and market structures and our interest in the DN sales activity.  In particular we have recently produced a Review of the Prevention of Debt and Disconnection Guidelines for Ofgem and energywatch which has a direct impact on Prepayment metering.  The review highlighted that one of the main drivers of proportionately more domestic consumers being disconnected for gas debt is the difficulty of physically replacing credit meters with prepayment ones (this is a problem due to the Gas Safety requirement for access to the premises for purging and relighting).  It is our belief that the proposed changes to the charging structure will provide a further disincentive to replace credit meters with prepayment meters and lead to a further increase in disconnections as discussed below under Issue 3.   However, notwithstanding this we are generally in favour of the proposed restructuring which will simplify the supplier and customer relationships.
In response to the specific issues raised in the paper, Sohn Associates have the following comments to make:
Issue 1
No Comment as this is specifically a Supplier issue.

Issue 2
From experience with the NGT options of price controlled terms or new novated contracts in the past, this choice is not straightforward.  The new contracts often have additional terms and conditions which are not negotiable (unlike a true competitive contract) and which do not provide the same level of protection (especially for smaller suppliers) as the price controlled terms or terms governed by the Network Code.

In many cases, NGT has tried to avail themselves of the advantages of the competitive market, whilst retaining the benefits of a regulated structure to force suppliers to accept their terms.  Consequently, in our view, Ofgem should consider the implications on all stakeholders, including Transco and any successors, if the PMA terms are not retained as an option for suppliers.
Issue 3
As stated above, the main issue for the rebalancing of meter charges is the likely impact on the take-up of prepayment meters.  There were understandable social reasons for the cross-subsidising of these meters which provide a valuable benefit to those households which have difficulty budgeting but, with the current technology and low take up, are relatively expensive.  The loss of lower cost prepayment metering may also reduce the number of low income households using gas heating, further increasing the number of households in fuel poverty at a time when this is already causing concern.  We estimate that gas prepayment meters comprise around 4% of the total installed number of domestic meters so the proposed changes are disproportionate to the benefits.  With increasingly volatile and high gas costs and low margins in the supply business, it is highly likely that suppliers will pass on at least some of the increase at the first opportunity, leading to further disadvantage for those customers on prepayment metering as they are already paying higher prices in many cases due to their relatively low consumption. 
As stated in paragraph 4.9, Ofgem originally anticipated increased competition in this market (leading to reduced costs) but this has failed to materialise, despite the completion of the AMR pilot exercise by BGT which was expected to contribute to the availability of alternative metering.  Rebalancing charges at this time may increase the incentive for investment in alternative prepayment technology but it is our belief that there are other factors working against this.  One of them is the fragmentation of the market and another is the complexity of coping with a change of supplier.  This last point is particularly complex for prepayment meters as gas already paid for will potentially be allocated to a new supplier who will receive no income for it.
We would question if UMS is obliged by the Competition Act to rebalance its charges.  At least one supplier has made alternative arrangements for the provision of prepayment meters suggesting that the current levels of charges are not set at a level which is distorting competition.  (Whilst arrangements have been made to use non Transco prepayment meters we do not believe that all suppliers are in a position that would allow them to do so.  Many would arguably have other higher priorities and we are concerned that this might lead to a default position of higher costs for those customers least able to afford them.) As far as the process of removing these meters from price control (if that is allowed), we agree that there should be a specific application to Ofgem to preserve the regulatory control of the process.
Issue 4
In our view, the issue of the Gas Act Owner is not particularly onerous for the domestic consumer.  A supplier will usually take on this responsibility, probably via the MAM, as without the meter in place a supply contract is worthless, although there is some legal risk in doing so.  Also, the alternative of the Consumer being responsible will not be understood by the majority of consumers especially when the electricity meter is not their responsibility.  The situation may be different with larger non-domestic consumers, many of whom already own or lease their electricity meter and may wish to also own their gas meter.  Transco has never considered the sale of individual meters to suppliers or consumers (although it seems that it can choose to make a bulk sale to itself) which would provide a real element of choice. 
Consequently, although an amendment to the gas supplier’s licence (and hence contract terms and conditions) seems the correct process, care should be taken that it does not prevent non-domestic consumers from exercising their choice.

Issue 5
Again in our view, the Weights & Measures implications are not onerous for domestic consumers where meters are exchanged at regular intervals and replacement is not a particular problem.  However, there are many large rotary and turbine meters (estimated to be around 6% of the relevant market) which are over 20 years old and have not been exchanged due to the physical difficulties and cost of updating the installation to comply with modern regulations.  NGT has been struggling with this issue for some time, even to the extent of being unable to quantify the problem due to the poor data for these meters (evidenced in the Shadow Log of meter models under RGMA).  There is also the potential requirement for in-situ testing which will have a major impact on large non-domestic installations.  Transco have received revenue for these meters for many years longer than the natural (and legal) replacement date and now propose to transfer the problem to another party.  We would suggest that at the very least they should be obliged to bring these installations up to the current standard (and certify this) prior to the transfer in order to create a level playing field for all metering suppliers.
We believe that these issues are too complex to consider and evaluate in the short time available before the proposed transfer date in April but would strongly refute the statement by NGT in paragraph 4.30 that “it does not consider that its proposal transfers any additional risks to customers” in the case of non-domestic customers.

In summary, we have concerns about two areas of the proposed restructuring:
1. The proposed rebalancing of metering charges between prepayment and credit at this time.  This may delay competitive alternatives becoming more freely available and the ability of all suppliers being able to take advantage of them;

2. The potential impact of Issues 4 and 5 on large non-domestic consumers, especially as I&C meters continue to be the responsibility of Transco and subject to price control provisions.  This could be mitigated by 
a) Transco making individual sales, at the same market rate as proposed for this transfer, available to suppliers or consumers; and
b) Transco certifying that all the meter installations it is transferring are in accordance with current standards.
We suggest that sufficient time and resources are made available to ensure that simple, pragmatic market and regulatory structures are designed to support effective fair competition.

Yours faithfully

T Smith

C Eng, MEI
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